**COPY**

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

STEVEN YARBROUGH

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2007-KA-1105-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**FILED**

APPELLEE

NOV 13 2007

OFFICE OF THE CLERK  
SUPREME COURT  
COURT OF APPEALS

---

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

---

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS

Benjamin A. Suber, MS Bar No. [REDACTED]

301 North Lamar Street, Suite 210

Jackson, Mississippi 39201

Telephone: 601-576-4200

Counsel for Steven Yarbrough

**IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI**

**STEVEN YARBROUGH**

**APPELLANT**

**V.**

**NO. 2007-KA-1105-COA**

**STATE OF MISSISSIPPI**

**APPELLEE**

**CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

**ISSUE NO. 1**

**THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO AMEND THE  
INDICTMENT**

**ISSUE NO. 2**

**THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING STEVEN'S MOTION FOR A NEW  
TRIAL BECAUSE THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING  
WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE**

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Lowndes County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction of Aggravated Assault on a Law Enforcement Officer. Steven T.

Yarbrough was sentenced as a Habitual Offender as defined by Section 99-19-81 Mississippi Rules Annotated, (1972), to thirty (30) years in the custody of the Department of Corrections following a jury trial on May 15-16, 2007, Honorable James T. Kitchens, Jr., presiding. Yarbrough is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

### **FACTS**

Around 1:30 a.m. on the morning of October 13, 2006, Officer Clint Sims [hereinafter Sims] was on patrol on Lehmberg Road headed south towards the Highway 82 overpass. [T. 97]. Sims saw a male and female walking north on Lehmberg Road off to the side of the roadway. *Id.* The male appeared to be holding the female. *Id.*

According to the testimony of Sims, he stopped, activated his overhead lights, and signed out with 911 to see if he could offer assistance to them. *Id.* As Sims was exiting the vehicle, Steven T. Yarbrough [hereinafter Steven] dropped the female and took off running north on Lehmberg Road. [T. 98]. Sims, not knowing was going on, chased after Steven yelling several times to stop. *Id.*

Sims continued to testify that after about a tenth (1/10) of a mile away from his police car, Sims caught up with Steven as he tried to cut through the woods and tripped over a curb and fell to his hands and knees. *Id.* Sims grabbed Steven by the right arm and took his left hand and placed it on Steven's back attempting to place Steven all the way to the ground. *Id.* As Steven was actively trying to get away, Sims placed his arm around Steven's neck, which reduces blood flow and calms people down. [T. 99].

Sims further stated that as he was trying to reach his radio, he finally loosened up his grip and Steven rotated his hips and they both fell backwards with Steven on top of Sims. [T. 100, 117]. Steven then placed his right forearm into the neck of Sims. [T.101]. Sims said he was pinned down and his breathing was becoming restricted at which point Steven told him that he knew him and wanted to go home. *Id.* Sims then pulled his weapon and to defend himself, but was able to kick Steven off of him. [T. 102]. Steven crawled away into the woods. *Id.* Sims stated that he was unable to inform the 911 dispatcher of his location because he could not speak. [T. 103]. He was able to get the word light out and crawled to the edge of road and flipped on his tactical light. [T. 104]. Officer Travis Robertson was the first officer that came to the assistance of Sims. *Id.*

Sims was taken to the hospital, and he stated that he had swelling and deep bruising to the inside of his neck. [T. 105]. He also had difficulty swallowing, but he had no fractures. *Id.* Sims received oxygen and received a nebulizer treatment at the hospital. *Id.* He spoke with the doctor and was released from the hospital. *Id.*

Steven's version of the events that took place are different. Steven testified that he was overwhelmed with a sense of panic at the sight of the police car and started running. [T. 169]. Steven said he fell when he tried to cross a ditch. *Id.* When he was down on his knees, Sims jumped behind him saying stop resisting, and put Steven in a choke hold that was cutting off his air. *Id.* He was panicked and when he felt Sims's grip loosen, he reversed it. *Id.*

Steven had realized what he was doing and did not want to hurt Sims, therefore he released him. *Id.* Steven patted Sims on the shoulder and said “I love you man, just let me go.” *Id.* Steven then took two or three strides and went into the woods, it only took about four or five seconds. [T. 170].

Steven ran through the woods and hid in a shed till cops left. [T. 172]. He later asked for a ride to his grandmothers apartment, where he was later arrested. *Id.*

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Appellant, Steven T. Yarbrough, is entitled to a reversal of his case and a new trial. Steven was not doing anything wrong when Sims pulled up behind him in the police car. After Steven ran, Sims tackled him and initiated the physical contact. Steven in freeing himself from the pain that was being inflicted, reversed the hold of Sims and Steven ended up on top of Sims possibly causing injury.

By amending the indictment and striking the word “serious” from “cause or attempt to cause serious bodily injury to Clint Sims,” Steven was prejudice in not able to present his full defense of the case that he did not cause or attempt to cause serious bodily injury. The change in the indictment was a substantive change and not one of form. Only the grand jury can correct defects of substance. *Evans v. State*, 813 so.2d 724, 728 (Miss. 2002) (quoting *Mitchell v. State*, 739 So.2d 402, 404 (Miss Ct. App. 1999)). For the fact that Steven suffered this prejudice, he is entitled to a new trial.

The verdict was also against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Steven was not doing anything wrong. Nor was Steven ever under arrest when Sims put Steven in a



choke hold. Sims initiated the physical contact. Steven did not have any intent to injure Sims, he was just trying to defend himself. No medical evidence was entered into evidence to show the injuries of Sims. The verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence and this was reversible error and Steven is entitled to a new trial.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **ISSUE NO. 1**

#### **THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO AMEND THE INDICTMENT**

In reviewing a claim of error in whether the indictment is defective is a question of law, and the standard of review for a question of law is a de novo standard. *Spears v. State*, 942 So.2d 772, 773 (Miss. 2006). “The rule concerning indictments is that they cannot be amended to change the nature of the charge, except by the grand jury.” *Jones v. State*, 798 So.2d 1241, 1250 (Miss. 2001), *Miller v. State*, 740 So.2d 858, 862 (Miss. 1999) (citing *Greenlee v. State*, 725 So.2d 816, 819 (Miss. 1998)). “Any amendment not approved by the grand jury must be of form only and must not affect the substance of the charge pending.” *Jones*, 798 So.2d at 1250, *Rhymes v. State*, 638 So.2d 1270, 1275 (Miss. 1994). “[A] change in the indictment is permissible if it does not materially alter facts which are the essence of the offense on the face of the indictment as it originally stood or materially alter a defense to the indictment as it originally stood so as to prejudice the defendant’s case.” *Id* (quoting *Shelby v. State*, 246 So.2d 543, 545 (Miss. 1971)).

**Rule 7.06 of the Mississippi Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice** provides what is required to be provided in an indictment. **Rule 7.06** states:

The indictment upon which the defendant is to be tried shall be plain, concise and definite written statement of the essential facts constituting the offense charged and shall fully notify the defendant of the nature and cause of the accusation. Formal and technical words are not necessary in an indictment, if the offense can be substantially described without them. An indictment shall also include the following:

1. The name of the accused;
  2. The date on which the indictment was filed in court;
  3. A statement that the prosecution is brought in the name and by the authority of the State of Mississippi;
  4. The county and judicial district in which the indictment is brought;
  5. The date and, if applicable, the time at which the offense was alleged to have been committed;
  6. The signature of the foreman of the grand jury issuing it; and
  7. The words "against the peace and dignity of the state."
- The court on motion of the defendant may strike from the indictment any surplusage, including unnecessary allegation of aliases.

***Spears*, 942 So.2d at 774, Rule 7.06 of the Mississippi Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice.**

The State asked to amend the indictment the day of trial. The language in the original indictment: ". . . unlawfully, wilfully, feloniously, purposely, and knowingly, cause or attempt to cause serious bodily injury to Clint Sims . . . ." The State moved to delete the word serious from the indictment and the trial court agreed. The amended indictment read, ". . . unlawfully, wilfully, feloniously, purposely, and knowingly, cause or attempt to cause bodily injury to Clint Sims. . . ."

By allowing the indictment to be amended by deleting the word serious, the substance of the indictment was changed. Steven was not prepared to go forward with the trial. By removing the word serious from the indictment, also changed Steven's defense at trial. [T. 11].

Steven contends that he did not try to or attempt to cause serious bodily injury to Sims; however, by his own admission he was trying to defend himself. [T. 176]. Steven also stated that if injuries were sustained by Sims, then he could have possibly caused bodily injury, but there was not any intention to cause serious bodily injury. [T. 183]. A difference between serious bodily injury and bodily injury does exist.

In order to determine whether an amendment is one of form or of substance, and whether a party was prejudiced by the amendment, the court must determine:

[W]hether an accused is prejudiced by the amendment of an indictment or information has been said to be whether or not a defense under the indictment or information as it originally stood would be equally available after the amendment is made and whether or not any evidence [the] accused might have would be equally applicable to the indictment or information in the one form as in the other; if the answer is in the affirmative, the amendment is one of form and not of substance.

*Medina v. State*, 688 So.2d 727, 730 (Miss.1996) (quoting *Griffin v. State*, 540 So.2d 17, 21 (Miss.1989) (quoting *Reed v. State*, 506 So.2d 277, 279 (Miss.1987))); Also see *Spears*, 942 So.2d at 775. The purpose of this rule is to protect the rights of the defendant by preventing unfair surprise after he has diligently prepared his defense strategy. See URCCC 7.09. The issue here is not the sufficiency of the indictment, but whether amending the indictment compromised the defendant's rights by prejudicing his defense. "Due Process requires the State to prove each element of the offense charged in the indictment beyond a reasonable doubt." *Hennington v. State*, 702 So.2d 403, 408 (Miss.1997).

Steven submits that the amendment to the indictment at issue was substantive in nature, materially changed an element of the original offense charged, materially altered the

defense to the indictment and was reversible error as it circumvented the authority of the grand jury.

## ISSUE NO. 2

### THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING STEVEN'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

In trial counsel's Motion for Judgment of Acquittal Notwithstanding the Verdict (JNOV) or in the Alternative Motion for a New Trial, counsel specifically argued that the jury's verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. R.E. 13 The trial judge denied this motion. R.E. 14

In *Bush v. State*, the Mississippi Supreme Court set forth the standard of review as follows:

When reviewing a denial of a motion for a new trial based on an objection to the weight of the evidence, we will only disturb a verdict when it is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice. *Herring v. State*, 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss.1997). We have stated that on a motion for new trial, the court sits as a thirteenth juror. The motion, however, is addressed to the discretion of the court, which should be exercised with caution, and the power to grant a new trial should be invoked only in exceptional cases in which the evidence preponderates heavily against the verdict. *Amiker v. Drugs For Less, Inc.*, 796 So.2d 942, 947 (Miss.2000). However, the evidence should be weighed in the light most favorable to the verdict. *Herring*, 691 So.2d at 957. A reversal on the grounds that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, "unlike a reversal based on insufficient evidence, does not mean that acquittal was the only proper verdict." *McQueen v. State*, 423 So.2d 800, 803 (Miss.1982). Rather, as the "thirteenth juror," the court simply disagrees with the jury's resolution of the conflicting testimony. *Id.* This difference of opinion does not signify acquittal any more than a disagreement among the jurors themselves. *Id.* Instead, the proper remedy is to grant a new trial.

*Bush v. State*, 895 So.2d 836, 844 (Miss. 2005) (footnotes omitted).

In the present case, Steven is at a minimum entitled to a new trial as the verdict was clearly against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Sims did not see a crime, he was just wanting to know what was going on with the male and female walking down the street. [T. 124]. Steven just panicked and took off running, and had no idea why the cop was chasing him. [T. 126, 169]. Steven admitted that he made a mistake by running from the cop. [T. 170]. However, at no point did the cop tell Steven that he was under arrest. [T. 137]. Sims also did not have a reason to arrest Steven. [T. 138].

However, Steven did not have the intent to hurt the cop, and did not want to hurt the cop. *Id.* Steven also stated that he did not have his right forearm across the neck of Sims. *Id.* He said that he had his forearm across the chest of Sims, and he was just using it as a prop. *Id.* At no point was he putting his full weight on the cop, he was just trying to level out. *Id.* Sims even testified that Steven did not take any measures to hurt him other than using his forearm. [T. 136].

Sims grabbed Steven first and Steven did not know why the cop was grabbing him first because he did not do anything wrong. [T. 171]. Steven felt threaten by Sims. [T. 170]. Steven never punched Sims, nor did he swing at Sims. [T. 171]. Steven has had boxing and martial arts training and knows how to hurt someone. *Id.* He did not attempt to hurt Sims, he was just reacting to the force that was used by Sims. [T. 171, 176]. The point when Steven got control of the situation, he left the situation. [T. 172].

According to Sims, he went to the hospital and was there for two to three hours and was released. [T. 138]. Sims did not have any broken bones or surgical procedures at the

hospital and was only given some medicine then sent home. *Id.* No medical evidence was presented to show the injuries to Sims. Also, no pictures of the injuries that could have occurred that night were introduced into evidence.

Steven admitted that he made a mistake by running from the cop, but by running did not warrant the force used by Sims. Steven felt threaten and was acting in self-defense. Sims was choking Steven when he reversed the situation.

It would be a great injustice for this conviction to stand in that no reasonable jury could convict Steven based on the testimony and the lack of any other type of evidence implicating Steven.