# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

# STEPHEN T. YARBROUGH a/k/a STEVEN TRACY YARBROUGH

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

FILED NO. 2007-KA-1105-COA OFFICE OF THE CLERK
SUPREME COURT

**APPELLEE** 

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

# **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL **POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220** TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue No. 1. The trial judge did not err in allowing the prosecution to amend the indictment because the amendment was one of form as opposed to substance.

First, it is no defense to the aggravated assault charged here that Yarbrough did not intend to cause or purposely cause "serious" bodily injury.

This is because Yarbrough was charged under Miss.Code Ann. §97-3-7(2)(b) which defines aggravated assault as "attempt[ing] to cause or purposely or knowingly caus[ing] bodily injury to another with a deadly weapon or other means likely to produce death or serious bodily harm."

"[I]ntent to cause serious bodily injury is not an element of the crime of aggravated assault under section 97-3-7(2)(b)." Russell v. State, 924 So.2d 604, 608 (Ct.App.Miss. 2006). Accordingly, the amendment could not have prejudiced Yarbrough in his defense.

Second, the amendment did not change the identity of the crime. It was aggravated assault both prior to and after the criticized amendment.

*Third*, the defense proffered by Yarbrough was that he did not cause or attempt to cause any bodily injury to Sims in the manner testified to by Sims. Stated differently, Yarbrough never claimed

a lack of intent or purpose to cause or attempt to cause "serious" bodily injury. Rather, according to Yarbrough he neither caused nor attempted to cause any bodily injury at all.

In this posture, the amendment did not materially alter a defense to the indictment and did not prejudice Yarbrough's case. His defense was just as good to the charge made in the amended indictment as it was to the charge in its original form.

Finally, we note that Yarbrough received a lesser included offense instruction authorizing the jury to find him guilty of simple assault. (C.P. at 24, 25-26)

Issue No. 2. The verdict of the jury was not against the overwhelming weight of the evidence which did not preponderate in favor of the defendant. Yarbrough's purpose and intent could be read from the act itself and the surrounding circumstances.

We simply disagree with appellant that to allow this verdict to stand would be tantamount to sanctioning an unconscionable injustice.

#### ARGUMENT

## ISSUE NO. 1.

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO AMEND THE INDICTMENT. THE AMENDMENT WAS ONE OF FORM AS OPPOSED TO SUBSTANCE.

Yarbrough's indictment, in its original form, charged, *inter alia*, that he "... did unlawfully, feloniously, purposely, and knowingly, cause or attempt to cause *serious* bodily injury to Clint Sims, a law enforcement officer with the Lowndes County Sheriff's Department, by means likely to produce death or serious bodily harm, at a time when the said Clint Sims was acting within the scope of his official duties and office, by choking the said Clint Sims, ..." (C.P. at 3)

Quite clearly Yarbrough was charged under Miss.Code Ann. §97-3-7(2)(b) which defines

aggravated assault as "attempt[ing] to cause or purposely or knowingly caus[ing] bodily injury to another with a deadly weapon or other means likely to produce death or serious bodily harm."

The morning of trial the State moved, *ore tenus*, to amend the indictment by striking as surplusage the word "serious" which preceded the words "bodily injury." (R. 10) The defendant objected to the proposed amendment on the ground "...we're defending, based on the substantive nature of the word 'serious' in the statute." (R. 11) After initially denying the State's motion to amend (R. 11-12), the trial judge reconsidered and allowed the amendment. (R. 14)

The circuit judge made the following observations:

"[T]he indictment, as it read, did not say that it caused. If it had just said caused serious bodily injury, I would not have allowed [the amendment]. It was cause or attempt to cause serious bodily injury. \* \* \* [T]he statute does not require both. It says that you either caused or attempted to cause serious bodily injury, or caused bodily injury by a means likely to produce death or serious bodily harm." (R. 164)

Yarbrough argues the "substance" of the indictment was materially changed when, on the morning of trial, the trial judge permitted the State to delete the word "serious" modifying the words "bodily injury."

"Steven contends that he did not try to or attempt to cause serious bodily injury to Sims . . . that he could have possibly caused bodily injury, but there was not any intention to cause serious bodily injury." (Brief of the Appellant at 7)

According to Yarbrough, removing the word "serious" from the indictment changed his defense at trial which was "... that he did not try to or attempt to cause serious bodily injury to Sims; [rather], ... he was trying to defend himself." (Brief of the Appellant at 7)

In short, Yarbrough claims that deletion of the word "serious" materially changed an element of the original offense and materially altered his defense, *viz.*, while he may have caused bodily

injury to Sims, he did not intend to cause "serious" bodily injury to Sims.

The problem with this argument, as we see it, is that an intent to cause "serious" bodily injury is not an element of the aggravated assault charged here.

It is no defense to the aggravated assault charged in the case at bar that Yarbrough did not intend to cause or purposely cause "serious" bodily injury.

This is because Yarbrough was charged under Miss.Code Ann. §97-3-7(2)(b) which defines aggravated assault as "attempt[ing] to cause or purposely or knowingly caus[ing] bodily injury to another with a deadly weapon or other means likely to produce death or serious bodily harm."

"[I]ntent to cause serious bodily injury is not an element of the crime of aggravated assault under section 97-3-7(2)(b)." Russell v. State, *supra*, 924 So.2d 604, 608 (Ct.App.Miss. 2006). Accordingly, the amendment was immaterial to the merits of the case and was one of form as opposed to substance. It could not have prejudiced Yarbrough in his "lack of intent to injure" defense which, we opine, would not have been an available and legitimate defense to the charge.

In addition to all this, we find in **Griffin v. State**, 872 So.2d 90, 91 (Ct.App.Miss. 2004), the following language applicable here:

Assault is not a crime requiring proof of specific intent; that is, the State need not prove that the defendant had formed the specific purpose of inflicting bodily injury on his victim in order to convict. *McGowan v. State*, 541 So.2d 1027, 1029 (Miss. 1989). Rather, the prosecution must simply show that the blow itself was purposely inflicted and that the requisite bodily injury resulted.

Yarbrough, we note, received a jury instruction authorizing the jury to find him guilty of simple assault, a lesser-included offense. Instruction S-2A stated, in its pertinent parts, as follows:

If you unanimously find that the State has failed to prove any one or more of the elements of the crime of Aggravated Assault on a Law Enforcement Officer, you may then proceed in your deliberations to consider the lesser charge of Simple Assault on a Law Enforcement

Officer. \* \* \* \*

Therefore, if you find from the evidence in this case beyond a reasonable doubt, that on or about October 13, 2006, the Defendant, Steven Yarbrough, unlawfully, willfully, feloniously, knowingly and intentionally

- caused or attempted to cause bodily injury to Clint Sims
- while Clint Sims was acting within the scope of his official duties as a Law Enforcement Officer,

without authority of law, and not in necessary self defense, then you shall find the Defendant guilty of the lesser included charge of Simple Assault on a Law Enforcement Officer. (C.P. at 25-26)

The law governing the amendment of indictments is summarized in **Jones v. State**, 912 So.2d 973 (Miss. 2005), where we find the following language:

\* \* \* It is fundamental law that courts may amend indictments only to correct defects of form and that defects of substance must be corrected by the grand jury. *Rhymes v. State*, 638 So.2d 1270, 1275 (Miss. 1994). An amendment is one of form if the amendment is immaterial to the merits of the case and the defense will not be prejudiced by the amendment. *Pool v. State*, 764 So.2d 440, 443 (Miss. 2000). "The test for whether an amendment to the indictment will prejudice the defense is whether the defense as it originally stood would be equally available after the amendment is made." *Id.* 

See also Harris v. State, 757 So.2d 195 (Miss. 2000); Shumaker v. State, 956 So.2d 1078 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007).

If a defendant's defense would be equally applicable under both an original indictment and an amended indictment and the evidence remains unhindered, then the amendment is a change in form, rather than a change in substance, and the amendment is permissible. **Goodin v. State,** No. 2006-KA-00756-COA decided May 1, 2007, slip opinion at 8-9 (¶¶ 20-22) [Not Yet Reported]; **Frazier v. State,** 907 So.2d 985 (Ct.App.Miss. 2005), reh denied; **Alexander v. State,** 875 So.2d

262 (Ct.App.Miss. 2004).

The indictment, as amended, still charged the crime of aggravated assault in that intentionally or purposely causing or attempting to cause bodily injury via a means likely to reproduce death or serious bodily harm is, to no less extent, aggravated assault. Miss.Code Ann. §97-3-7(2)(b) reads, in its relevant parts, as follows:

(2) A person is guilty of aggravated assault if he attempts to cause serious bodily injury to another, or causes such injury purposely, knowingly or recklessly under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life; or (b) attempts to cause or purposely or knowingly causes bodily injury to another with a deadly weapon or other means likely to produce death or serious bodily harm; \* \* \* However, a person convicted of aggravated assault (a) upon a . . . law enforcement officer . . . while such . . . law enforcement officer . . . is acting within the scope of his duty, office or employment, . . . shall be punished by a fine of not more than Five Thousand Dollars (\$5,000.00) or by imprisonment for not more than thirty (30) years, or both.

It is clear the offense is still aggravated assault where, as here, a jury could find an intent to cause mere bodily injury, as opposed to "serious" bodily injury, with means likely to produce serious bodily harm. *Cf.* **Russell v. State,** *supra*, 924 So.2d 604 (Ct.App.Miss. 2006) [Intent to cause serious bodily injury is not an element of the crime of aggravated assault under statute 97-3-7(2)(b) defining one type of aggravated assault as attempting to cause or purposely or knowingly causing bodily injury to another with a deadly weapon or other means likely to produce death or serious bodily harm]. *See also* **Goodin v. State,** *supra*, No. 2006-KA-00756-COA decided May 1, 2007, slip opinion at 8-9 (¶¶ 20-22) [Not Yet Reported] [Appellant's claim he lost the defense of lack of force when charged with the crime of sexual battery as opposed to rape, was without merit.]; **Porter v. State,** 339 So.2d 564 (Miss. 1976) [Permitting State to amend indictment by deleting language purporting to charge

"capital murder", leaving charge of "murder less than capital," was not error since amendment neither placed any additional burden on the defendant nor prejudiced the defense in any manner.]; Ford v. State, 911 So.2d 1007 (Ct.App.Miss. 2005) [Amending original indictment of burglary of a dwelling house to burglary of a building other than a dwelling house not error where defense would have been the same under both the original as well as the amended indictment.]; Irons v. State, 886 So.2d 726 (Ct.App.Miss. 2004), reh denied, cert. denied [Defendant not prejudiced by amendment changing "attempt" to obtain a controlled substance to "actually obtaining" a controlled substance because proof of the charge and available defenses remained the same.]

We are aware that neither trial judges nor prosecutors may amend indictments as to substantive matters without the concurrence of the grand jury that issued the indictment.

Wolfe v. State, 743 So.2d 380 (Miss. 1999); Edwards v. State, 737 So.2d 275 (Miss. 1999).

However, it is permissible to amend an indictment where, as here, the amendment is immaterial to the merits of the case and the defense will not be prejudiced by the amendment. **Edwards v. State**, *supra*; **Eakes v. State**, 665 So.2d 852 (Miss. 1995); **Forkner v. State**, 902 So.2d 615 (Ct.App.Miss. 2004), reh denied, cert denied.

The amendment in the case at bar was an amendment of form over substance. **Doby**v. State, 532 So.2d 584 (Miss. 1988); Norman v. State, 385 So.2d 1298 (Miss. 1980);

Shelby v. State, 246 So.2d 543 (Miss. 1971); Deaton v. State, 242 So.2d 452 (Miss. 1970);

Miss. Code Ann. § 99-17-13; Miss.Code Ann. Section 99-7-21; Miss.Code Ann. § 99-7-25;

Rule 7.09, Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules ["All indictments may be amended as to form but not as to the substance of the offense charged."]

The amendment made at the start of trial did not change the nature of the crime intended - aggravated assault - or add any new elements to the charge. The State was still required to prove bodily injury to another with a means likely to produce death or serious bodily harm.

"The test of whether an accused is prejudiced by the amendment of an indictment or information has been said to be whether or not a defense under the indictment or information as it originally stood would be equally available after the amendment is made and whether or not any evidence accused might have would be equally applicable to the indictment or information in the one form as in the other; if the answer is in the affirmative, the amendment is one of form and not of substance, \* \* \* " Byrd v. State, 228 So.2d 874, 876 (Miss. 1969).

See also Eakes v. State, supra, 665 So.2d 852 (Miss. 1995); Givens v. State, 730 So.2d 81, 87 (Miss. App. 1998), and the cases cited therein.

As stated previously, a specific intent to cause bodily injury, whether serious or not, is not an element of the offense charged here. We concur with the prosecutor that such was "surplusage language."

In any event, the defense actually testified to by Yarbrough was that he did not cause or attempt to cause any bodily injury to Sims in the manner testified to by Sims. Stated differently, Yarbrough never claimed a lack of intent or purpose to cause or attempt to cause "serious" bodily injury. Rather, according to Yarbrough he neither caused nor attempted to cause any bodily injury at all.

In this posture, the amendment did not materially alter Yarbrough's defense to the indictment and did not prejudice Yarbrough's case. Any defense - lack of intent to cause bodily injury - was just as good (or just as ineffective) to the charge made in the amended

indictment as it was to the charge in its original form. Put another way, Yarbrough's "lack of intent" defense was equally "unavailable" after the amendment was made.

The defendant could not have been surprised by an amendment deleting from the indictment the word "serious" and is presumed to have been on notice he was being prosecuted under subsection (2)(b) which states that a person is guilty of aggravated assault if he attempts to cause or purposely or knowingly causes bodily injury to another with a deadly weapon or other means likely to produce death or serious bodily harm. *Cf.* **Neal v. State,** 936 So.2d 463 (Ct.App.Miss. 2006).

Finally, Yarbrough did not seek a continuance in the wake of the amendment deleting the word "serious" (R. 222-25) He has neither complained about nor identified any specific post-amendment prejudice to his defense to a charge of aggravated assault. If a defendant does not request a continuance upon the amendment of an indictment, he cannot afterward object he was surprised and prejudiced in his defense thereby. **Peebles v. State,** 55 Miss. 434 (1877).

This claim is devoid of merit.

## **ISSUE NO. 2.**

THE VERDICT OF THE JURY WAS NOT AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

Yarbrough seeks a reversal and remand for a new trial. (Brief of the Appellant at 11)

He argues he had no intent to hurt Sims and was just defending himself after Sims grabbed him and attempted to force him to the ground. (Brief of the Appellant at 9)

We submit, on the other hand, the testimony of Deputy Sims describing the injuries received and the pain he suffered was not outweighed by Yarbrough's testimony that he meant

no harm. Yarbrough's argument that he did not intend to hurt Sims is not a defense where, as here, the proof demonstrates the blow was purposely inflicted. **Griffin v. State**, *supra*, 872 So.2d 90 (Ct.App.Miss. 2004).

Sims' testimony was corroborated by the testimony of Travis Robertson who testified that when he found Sims, Sims could barely breath, could not talk, and was dead weight. (R. 150-52)

The testimony of Investigator Tony Cooper that Yarbrough was found, fully clothed, hiding in a bathtub inside the home of his grandmother added icing to an already palatable cake. (R. 159-60)

Whether Yarbrough intentionally, i.e., purposely, pressed his forearm against Sims' neck causing bruising, intense pain and suffering or pressed his forearm harmlessly against Sims' chest as a "prop" was a jury issue.

Defense counsel argued to the jury that "[m]y client didn't intentionally cause any injury to [Sims]. (R. 217) This is no defense to the charge.

The language found in **Griffin v. State**, *supra*, 872 So.2d 90, 91 (Ct.App.Miss. 2004), is worth repeating here:

Assault is not a crime requiring proof of specific intent; that is, the State need not prove that the defendant had formed the specific purpose of inflicting bodily injury on his victim in order to convict. *McGowan v. State*, 541 So.2d 1027, 1029 (Miss. 1989) Rather, the prosecution must simply show that the blow itself was purposely inflicted and that the requisite bodily injury resulted. [emphasis supplied]

Jury instruction S-2A authorized the jury to find Yarbrough guilty of aggravated assault if it found beyond a reasonable doubt that on or about October 13, 2006, the Defendant, Steven Yarbrough, did

- " . . . unlawfully, willfully, feloniously, knowingly and intentionally
- caused or attempted to cause bodily injury to Clint Sims
- by choking Clint Sims, a means likely to produce death or serious bodily harm,
- while Clint Sims was acting within the scope of his official duties as a Law enforcement Officer,

without authority of law, and not in necessary self defense . . "(C.P. at 25)

The same instruction authorized the jury to find Yarbrough guilty of simple assault if it found from the evidence that Yarbrough did

- "... unlawfully, willfully, feloniously, knowingly and intentionally
- caused or attempted to cause bodily injury to Clint Sims
- while Clint Sims was acting within the scope of his official duties as a Law Enforcement Officer,

without authority of law, and not in necessary self defense, . . " (C.P. at 26)

The grade of the offense was a question for the jury. Obviously, the jury found from the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt that Yarbrough caused bodily injury by choking Sims which was found to be a means likely to produce death or serious bodily harm.

Judge Kitchens, by denying Yarbrough's motion for a directed verdict and request for peremptory instruction, correctly held the question of Yarbrough's intent was a jury issue.

In Newburn v. State, 205 So.2d 260, 265 (Miss. 1967), this Court stated:

"Intent is a state of mind existing at the time a person commits an offense. If intent required definite and substantive proof, it would be almost impossible to convict, absent facts disclosing a culmination of the intent. The mind of an alleged offender, however, may be read from his acts, conduct, and inferences fairly deducible from all the circumstances."

In Shanklin v. State, 290 So.2d 625, 627 (Miss. 1974), this Court further opined:

Intent to do an act or commit a crime is also a question of fact to be gleaned by the jury from the facts shown in each case. The intent to commit a crime or to do an act by a free agent can be determined only by the act itself, surrounding circumstances, and expressions made by the actor with reference to his intent. [citations omitted]

Here Yarbrough's purpose and intent could be read from the act itself and the surrounding circumstances. Deputy Sims was in hot pursuit of Yarbrough for the purpose of resolving an ambiguous situation. Yarbrough did not stop after being ordered to do so by an individual Yarbrough recognized as a law enforcement officer. He resisted Sims' attempt to resolve the ambiguity by struggling with Sims and pressing his forearm against Sim's throat and windpipe.

Accepting as true all evidence favorable to the State, together with all reasonable inferences to be drawn from that evidence, and viewing it in a light most favorable to the prosecution's theory of the case, we submit a reviewing Court can conclude that a reasonable, hypothetical juror could have found Yarbrough guilty of aggravated assault.

Our position on the issue concerning the grade of the offense can be summarized in only three (3) words: "classic jury issue." A reasonable hypothetical jury could have found Yarbrough guilty of aggravated assault.

This is not a case where the evidence, at least as to one of the elements of the crime charged, is such that a reasonable and fair minded juror could only find the accused not guilty.

See McClain v. State, 625 So.2d 774, 778 (Miss. 1993).

This is not an exceptional case where the evidence preponderates heavily against the

unconscionable injustice. Groseclose v. State, 440 So.2d 297, 300 (Miss. 1983). The case at bar certainly does not exist in this posture.

## CONCLUSION

"This Court will not set aside a conviction without concluding that the evidence, taken in the most favorable light, could not have supported a reasonable juror's conclusion that the defendant was guilty beyond a reasonable doubt." Rainer v. State, 473 So.2d 172, 173 (Miss. 1985).

In the case at bar it could, and he was.

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